ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

No. 210, September 1998

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL SYSTEM

WILFRED J. ETHIER



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE are published by the International Finance Section of the Department of Economics of Princeton University. The Section sponsors this series of publications, but the opinions expressed are those of the authors. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication in this and its other series. Please see the Notice to Contributors at the back of this Essay.

The author of this Essay, Wilfred J. Ethier, is Professor of Economics at the University of Pennsylvania, a Fellow of the Econometric Society, and a former editor of the *International Economic Review*. His previous publications include two contributions to this series: *Managing the Managed Float* (1975), coauthored with Arthur I. Bloomfield, and *International Financial Markets and Capital Movements: A Symposium in Honor of Arthur I. Bloomfield* (1985), coedited, and the introduction coauthored, with Richard C. Marston. The following Essay was delivered as the Frank D. Graham Memorial Lecture on April 24, 1997. A complete list of Graham Memorial Lecturers is given at the end of this volume.

PETER B. KENEN, Director International Finance Section

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

No. 210, September 1998

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL SYSTEM

WILFRED J. ETHIER



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION EDITORIAL STAFF

Peter B. Kenen, Director Margaret B. Riccardi, Editor Sharon B. Ernst, Editorial Aide Lalitha H. Chandra, Subscriptions and Orders

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Ethier, Wilfred J.

The international commercial system / Wilfred J. Ethier.

p. cm. — (Essays in international finance; no. 210)

Includes bibliographical references.

ISBN 0-88165-117-6

1. Commercial policy. 2. Foreign-trade regulation. 3. Free trade. 4. Protectionism. 5. Regionalism. 6. International trade. I. Title. II. Series.

HG136.P7 no. 210

[HF1411]

382—dc21

98-14189 CIP

Copyright © 1998 by International Finance Section, Department of Economics, Princeton University.

All rights reserved. Except for brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews, no part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means, including photocopy, without written permission from the publisher.

Printed in the United States of America by Princeton University Printing Services at Princeton, New Jersey

International Standard Serial Number: 0071-142X International Standard Book Number: 0-88165-117-6 Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 98-14189

CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	1
2	MULTILATERALISM	2
3	UNILATERALISM	3
	Four Instruments of Unilateralism	3
	Changing Instrument Use	5
	Principles of Unilateralism	6
4	REGIONALISM	11
5	THE ARENA	12
	The Participants	12
	The Course of Events	14
6	HOW IT WORKS	15
	The Conventional View	15
	Multilateralism and Nondiscrimination	16
	Multilateral Liberalization	18
	Multilateralism and Unilateralism	20
	Multilateralism and Regionalism	22
	Multilateralism, Unilateralism, and Regionalism	26
7	CONCLUSIONS	27
	REFERENCES	29

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMERCIAL SYSTEM

I don't mean the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT). And I don't mean the World Trade Organization (WTO). At least, I don't mean only the GATT and WTO. I refer, instead, to a more comprehensive framework within which countries individually and jointly conduct their trade policies and which has been evolving for more than half a century. Parts of this framework (such as the GATT and WTO) reflect conscious design and parts do not. In this essay, I hope to show that such an international commercial system does, indeed, exist, to describe the economics of the system, and to demonstrate that an analysis of it is worthwhile.

Although Frank Graham had a deep interest in international trade and economic policy, he could not have addressed my subject, for it had not fully come into existence during his lifetime. I shall try, however, to adopt something of the argumentative and assertive approach that characterized his work.

1 Introduction

There are three constituent parts of the international commercial system:

- *Multilateralism* refers to the GATT rounds of negotiations and the WTO. It is a central part of the system and has been developing for over fifty years.
- Unilateralism refers to the means by which countries individually alter their trade barriers, either directly or by inducing bilateral negotiations. It consists of a set of rules—explicit and implicit—by which national governments respond to domestic political pressures for protection. The set changes over time, both in its composition and in its pattern of usage. The oldest of the three constituent elements, unilateralism has always been with us, but it changes in response to changes in multilateralism.
- Regionalism refers here to the "new regionalism" prominent since the late 1980s. In this sense, it is the most recent of the three constituents.

I am grateful to Arye Hillman, Henrik Horn, and an anonymous referee for helpful comments and suggestions.

I am concerned with the relations among these three components and with the nature of the system they jointly determine. In particular, I want to know how the three components, and the interactions among them, determine the pace of trade liberalization, the rate of technological advance, and the success of "outliers" in reforming themselves and joining the world trading system.

In the following discussion, I shall first describe the three components in greater detail, arguing that each can usefully be reduced to a few basic principles. I shall then present a simple abstract framework for analysis, featuring high initial tariff barriers and many countries, the governments of some of which wish to negotiate gradual tariff reductions. Unilateralism and multilateralism will develop endogenously in this framework, embodying the principles actually observed. Finally, I shall argue that some governments, initially aloof from multilateral liberalization, will attempt to enter the multilateral system as participation gradually appears to promise larger benefits. Regionalism will develop endogenously to facilitate this entry.

My approach is positive rather than normative, with the consequence that some familiar parts of the international trade-policy scene will appear in a new light that is more favorable than before. My conclusion is that it is a mistake to evaluate these parts in isolation from the overall system and in ignorance of the reasons for their existence.

2 Multilateralism

I describe multilateralism first because it is the simplest of the three components and the least controversial. Although I have in mind the entire GATT/WTO structure, my present purpose will be better served

¹ The argument that follows draws heavily upon my own work of the past decade or so. Instead of annoying you with repeated references to myself, I shall instead unleash a single barrage of self-serving advertisement (I dismiss out of hand the third alternative of simple silence). For international economies of scale, see Ethier (1982a, 1995); for a theory of dumping, see Ethier (1982b); for the old regionalism, see Ethier and Horn (1984); for the theory of antidumping policy, see Ethier and Fischer (1987) and Ethier (1992a, 1993); for foreign direct investment, see Ethier and Horn (1990), Ethier (1992b, 1994a, 1994b, 1998e), and Ethier and Markusen (1996); for a treatment of the nature of voluntary export restraints (VERs) with an emphasis on the importance of discrimination, see Ethier (1991a); for a theory of VERs, see Ethier (1991b); for the nature of unilateralism, see Ethier (1994c); for aggressive export promotion, see Ethier and Horn (1996); for a survey of some approaches to endogenous regionalism, see Ethier (1998a); for multilateralism and regionalism, see Ethier (1998d); for unilateralism and multilateralism, see Ethier (1998c).

if I imagine this structure to be distilled into just three basic elements. These are:

- Successive *rounds* of multilaterally negotiated tariff reductions,
- An emphasis on tariffs as instruments of protection, and
- *Nondiscrimination*, whereby each country is a most favored nation (MFN) of every other, so that a trade concession made to one partner is extended to all partners.

The discussion that follows identifies multilateralism with these three principles.

Multilateral liberalization has increasingly shifted focus from further reducing already reduced tariffs to broadening liberalization into additional areas, such as agriculture, services, and intellectual property. As a consequence, attention has necessarily shifted to government policies other than tariffs. Consideration of these developments would not alter the argument that follows, and I do not intend to address new issues the developments raise. In the interest of simplicity, therefore, I shall abstract from all this and pretend that continued multilateral liberalization is nothing more than the continued reduction of tariffs.

3 Unilateralism

My description of unilateralism is probably the most controversial of the three descriptions I offer. It is necessary, first, to draw a distinction between the traditional theory of protection and contemporary unilateralism: the elements of the "new protectionism" are *rules for intervention* rather than *tariff rates*, and the measures called for by the rules are temporary rather than permanent.

I intend to argue that the policy tools of the new protectionism are best seen as embodiments of general principles of unilateralism, rather than as instruments to be examined one by one. I shall describe the instruments themselves and then argue about what these general principles are.

Four Instruments of Unilateralism

• Voluntary export restraints (VERs). These instruments are extralegal in that they fall outside both national laws and international agreements; as a result of the Uruguay Round, they are becoming even more extralegal.

The other three instruments are known collectively as "administered protection." They are both provided for in the national law of many

countries and sanctioned by the WTO, the members of which are required to abide by certain principles in their administration. These instruments are:

- Antidumping duties. Dumping refers to pricing for export below the cost of production or below the price for comparable domestic sales. Antidumping laws provide for a two-pronged investigation when such behavior is alleged: determination of the dumping margin, if any, and determination of material injury to domestic import-competing firms. If both determinations are positive, a temporary duty equal to the dumping margin is imposed on the relevant good imported from the country whose firms have been found to have dumped. Note that the national interest plays no role in this procedure and that, in the United States, the president has no discretion to decline to impose the duty. These laws thus define certain behavior as objectionable and force import prices up when it occurs. Whether or not the behavior should be regarded as objectionable is apparently beside the point; the laws delineate a set of circumstances under which import-competing interests may obtain temporary protection.
- Countervailing duties. These duties apply to imports that have been subsidized for export by the exporting country. Their administration is similar to that of antidumping laws.
- Safeguard provisions. These provisions give temporary protection for domestic industries harmed by an increase in imports. Once again, a material-injury test is applied. But in this case, in the United States, the president has discretion to decline to impose a duty. More generally, duties that are imposed should be nondiscriminatory, and they should not increase protection overall; duties should be reduced (again, in a nondiscriminatory way) on goods that are important exports of the exporting countries most affected by the safeguard measures.

Antidumping and countervailing-duty laws brand certain practices as objectionable, and the presence of these practices may allow a country to impose temporary protection *in addition to* trade barriers already in place. Safeguard provisions, by contrast, are nonpunitive measures intended to allow countries temporarily to *readjust* the existing structure of protection to limit perceived internal pain.

By limiting consideration to the above four instruments, I exclude a number of other tools. The most prominent of these are, no doubt, those that are intended to be used aggressively for export expansion, such as Super 301 in the United States. Such instruments are more characteristic of the United States than of other countries. More important, I want to limit the scope of this discussion by confining

unilateralism to import protection. My topic is very broad, and without some such limits, all hope of coherence would be lost.

Changing Instrument Use

The way the above four instruments are employed has changed dramatically in several ways, and these changes often illustrate an interplay between multilateralism and unilateralism. First, use of these instruments has greatly increased since the 1960s. With the freedom to conduct traditional tariff policy progressively constrained by multilateral agreements, protectionist pressures have increasingly found outlets in the new protectionism.

Second, with use of the instruments becoming more pervasive, multilateral agreements have been broadening in attempts to encompass unilateral actions. The Tokyo Round established voluntary codes for the conduct of administered protection. These were made mandatory for WTO members by the Uruguay Round, which also attacked VERs, attempting to phase out existing restraints and to curtail future use. But the code for safeguards has been liberalized, and countries are now allowed, under certain circumstances, to use safeguards more in the way that VERs have been used. The final outcome of all this is far from clear.

Third, countries have continually made changes to their laws governing administered protection. Although some changes have been made to adhere to the codes of conduct, the changes have generally had the effect of reducing discretion in their application and making protection a more likely outcome. The United States moved administration of its antidumping law from the Treasury Department to the Commerce Department for just this reason.

Fourth, as the use of administered protection has grown, the mix among the instruments used has changed dramatically, with the number of escapeclause cases declining absolutely, as well as relatively, and the number of countervailing-duty and (especially) antidumping cases exploding.

This persistent change in instrument use, and the prospect of continued change in the future, suggests the possible strategy of searching for a common denominator of underlying principles of unilateralism. If such a common denominator exists and is sufficiently significant, analysis can be directed toward the principles themselves, rather than toward the specific instruments that embody them. Such an analysis might then be expected to remain relevant even as the mix of instruments actually employed continues to change. I argue that such a common denominator does, indeed, exist.

Principles of Unilateralism

Five principles characterize—more or less—the trade restrictions produced by the various instruments of unilateralism:

• Foreign exporters are *compensated*. The restrictions are voluntary, in large part, for exporting as well as importing nations.

A distinctive feature of *VERs* is that the rents generated by the restriction of trade accrue to the exporting nations, which actually administer the quotas. Usually, the quotas are administered in such a way that the exporting firms themselves capture the rents and are thereby compensated, at least in part, for the lost export sales. Also, in oligopolistic markets, total profit may increase further, because of the restraint placed on some firms, thereby enhancing the (reduced) share accruing to exporters (Harris, 1985; Krishna, 1989). On balance, the exporting firms may or may not be better off than if there had been no restraints, but they receive significant compensation in any event. Safeguards explicitly require that exporters be compensated, but the compensation is to the exporting *country* rather than to the exporting *firms*.

With antidumping and countervailing duties, the assertion of significant compensation seems implausible, maybe ridiculous. These instruments use tariffs, after all, and the targets of antidumping actions spend large sums defending themselves. But the compensation does, in fact, exist, and this can be appreciated after a closer look at the way in which these instruments are actually used. About one-third of U.S. antidumping petitions, for example, result in duties; another third are rejected; and the remaining third are withdrawn. Of those that are withdrawn, many are withdrawn after a settlement has been negotiated (with or without government involvement) between the domestic and foreign firms. This typically involves an undertaking by the foreign firms to raise prices or to restrict exports. Thomas Prusa (1992) reports that withdrawn petitions appear to restrict trade almost as much, on average, as petitions resulting in the imposition of duties, implying that negotiated settlements are, on average, more restrictive than antidumping duties. When such undertakings are made, the exporters receive the rents, just as they do with VERs.

If a petition results in an antidumping duty, instead, the effect is higher export prices, not tariff revenue. Any tariffs collected are rebated when it is determined, *ex post*, that the goods were not in fact dumped.² The exporter, realizing that the price in the importing

 $^{^2}$ But in the United States at least, the importer will incur additional liability if it is determined that the goods were in fact dumped by more than the duty. This implies that

country is going to rise by the amount of the dumping margin, no matter what he or she does, raises the export price by that amount. The purpose of an antidumping law is not to impose temporarily a conventional tariff but to force exporters to raise prices. Just as with VERs, the exporters usually get the rents.³ In addition, an antidumping duty usually applies to similar products from all firms in the industry in the country of the dumping firm, not just the latter. Thus, just as with a VER, an antidumping duty collectively constrains the behavior of exporters from a specific country. And it, too, possesses the potential to raise oligopolistic profit in an industry and to confer a net benefit on exporters.

Even if both home and foreign firms wish exporters to be collectively constrained, the mere existence of an antidumping law means that the home firms will use it, if they can, to bolster their bargaining position in negotiations with the foreign firms and that the foreign firms will resist, not necessarily to prevent export restrictions, but to prevent their own bargaining position from being weakened in those negotiations. The vigor of their defense is therefore not a good indicator of potential harm to defendants.

I do not mean to suggest that the instruments of unilateralism actually benefit the foreign firms against which they are employed, or even that they leave the latter more or less indifferent. This is possible (Hillman, 1990), but the first general principle of unilateralism is simply that the countries that are denied market access receive significant, if only partial, compensation.

This is a curious phenomenon. If unilateralism were practiced in a vacuum, it would make no sense at all. Even a government that is nothing more than a captive of import-competing special interests will not want to hand over tariff revenue to foreigners. Even a government totally indifferent to improvements in the terms of trade will have no motive to strive for their deterioration. But this is exactly what governments do, routinely, in the conduct of unilateralism. Their behavior can be understood only in the context of a multilateral liberalization that is perceived as beneficial. When market access is denied, compensation is

it is riskier to buy goods from a country against which there is an outstanding dumping determination than from some other source at the same price.

³ Usually, but not always. Sometimes the duty is large enough to reduce imports drastically, or to eliminate them altogether, so that the higher price is little consolation to exporters. Sometimes (particularly in Europe) administration hinders the ability of the exporter to capture the price rise.

extended to reduce the chance of provoking a confrontation that could threaten the multilateral order. Unilateralism is what it is because of successful multilateralism.⁴

• The restrictions are in response to *established* import positions that have harmed import-competing interests.

Voluntary export restraints are almost always a response to a large, established import presence (usually recently established or enlarged), not to the prospect that such a presence may come about. Usually, there is, instead, the prospect that the import presence will quickly grow much larger still in the absence of an agreement to prevent such growth. Administered protection possesses exactly the same property. This is ensured by the material-injury test: it is not credible to conclude that imports are the cause if the import position is insignificant. Moreover, there is often the prospect of immediate additional import growth if nothing is done. In determining whether material injury exists by reason of imports, authorities often employ a "trends" approach. They examine rates of change of purportedly relevant variables, such as the volume of imports, the ratio of imports to domestic consumption, and employment and capacity utilization in the domestic industry. All this suggests that antidumping procedures are used to prevent significant increases in already significant import positions.

There are several plausible explanations. First, being able to point to an existing and growing large volume of imports makes it easier to enlist the sympathy of fellow citizens for restrictions. Second, there must be a significant import-competing interest adversely affected by the imports to provide the source of the political pressure to restrict trade. Third, and most important, if foreign firms are to receive significant compensation by means of trade rents for the restrictions imposed on them, they need to be left with a large enough market share to generate those rents. Thus, this second principle of unilateralism is closely connected with the first.

• The instruments provide *temporary* (at least, in original intent) trade restrictions.

These temporary trade restrictions accomplish two things. Temporary protective acts pose less of an ostensible threat to multilateral liberalization than would permanent increases in protection. In this sense, this feature reinforces the previous two. In addition, these instruments

 $^{^4}$ It is true that antidumping and countervailing-duty laws existed long before the GATT, but their use became significant only after multilateral liberalization had become significant.

are used in pursuit of specific targets in response to particular interest groups; because the protective measures they provide are temporary, they can easily be adjusted until the target is reached.

One reason that these measures are temporary is that they are also porous. Restricted exporters adjust the nature of their products, the location of production, and so forth, to evade restrictions. The longer a restriction is in place and remains unchanged, the greater the opportunity for exporters to use such maneuvers.

• The restrictions are discriminatory.

In different industries, VERs have sometimes been employed between many exporters and an importer (steel), between many importers and an exporter (automobiles), or among many exporters and importers in a comprehensive framework (textiles and apparel). But the individual VERs are bilateral and, thus, inherently discriminatory. This is an important way in which VERs violate the spirit of the GATT and WTO.

Antidumping and countervailing-duty laws are WTO-consistent (if in accord with the respective codes of conduct) but also inherently discriminatory, because they usually provide for duties against the products of specific countries. Safeguards, alone among the four instruments, are nondiscriminatory. It is therefore significant that their use has greatly declined relative to that of the other three instruments and that, in the future, it will sometimes be permissible to employ them in a discriminatory manner. One of the less prominent controversies during the Uruguay Round negotiations concerned a proposal to allow safeguards in general to be used in a discriminatory way. In the end, this proposal was not adopted.

The discriminatory nature of unilateralism implies that an analysis of it should consider four distinct groups of firms: *import competitors*, which are the intended beneficiaries of acts of unilateralism; *restrained exporters*, which may be harmed but usually receive significant compensation; *unrestrained exporters* (from third countries), which can usually be expected to benefit from an application of unilateralism and so not to put pressure on their governments to protest; and *import competitors* (in third countries) not part of the arrangement, and which, in industries with significant economies of scale, may be harmed, because restrained exporters, to keep production up and costs down, would be expected to export more to countries where they are not restrained in order to keep production up and costs down. In practice, however, the response of such firms has almost always been to press for protection of their own, rather than to protest the original unilateral act. This suggests that at least some agents do, in fact, see a

system of unilateralism, and not merely a collection of unrelated measures. Absent from my list are consumers and other domestic groups that have interests counter to those of the import-competing firms. To the extent that these matter, there will be less unilateral protection from the start.

• Unusually compelling in this context is tariff-quota equivalence.

Voluntary export restraints are explicitly quantitative, but, for administered protection, this may be a bit hard to accept: these laws do, after all, stipulate when and how to impose tariffs. Nevertheless, three points are noteworthy: First, the outcome of an antidumping action is quite often an undertaking by the accused party to restrict exports that is, a VER. Second, as argued above, the rents generated by trade restrictions resulting from antidumping actions, for example, almost always accrue to the exporting country, rather than to the importing country. Third, tariff-quota equivalence is a likely occurrence. Tariffquota equivalence is a proposition in the theory of international trade asserting that any equilibrium that can be supported by a tariff policy can also be supported by an appropriate quota policy and vice versa. A large (and largely redundant) literature makes the obvious point that tariffs and quotas are very often not equivalent in fact. If an equilibrium is disturbed, the resulting response will generally depend on whether a tariff or a quota is in place. Thus, if a policy must be implemented before all circumstances are known (which will always be true), it matters which tool is used. This is especially true of once-and-for-all changes in protection, so the emphasis on the tariff as the tool is an important principle of multilateralism. But unilateralism is one theater (perhaps the only theater) in which tariff-quota equivalence really matters. Each of the instruments seeks to attain a particular market outcome and does so by imposing a restriction that can be readjusted frequently. It therefore matters little whether the restriction is quantitative or not. The real distinction between the instruments is in the circumstances under which they can be used.

To summarize, unilateralism embodies five principles:

- Foreign exporters are *compensated*. The restrictions are largely voluntary for both exporting and importing nations.
- The restrictions are in response to *established* import positions that have harmed import-competing interests.
- The instruments provide *temporary* trade restrictions.
- The restrictions are discriminatory.
- Tariff-quota equivalence is strong.

Unilateralism is, thus, a set of rules allowing import-competing interests to obtain protection (under varying degrees of uncertainty) that is conferred according to the above five principles. The remainder of this essay identifies unilateralism with the consistent application of these principles over time. I shall no longer consider the actual (changing) mix of instruments used to implement them.

4 Regionalism

Of the three constituents of the international commercial system, regionalism has had, over the past half-century, perhaps the most curious history. Many regional initiatives began in the 1950s and 1960s (the "old regionalism"), but they accomplished little, except in Western Europe. The relation of this European integration to multilateral liberalization was usually regarded as benign, largely because of the success of the Kennedy Round. Two quiet decades followed. Then, in the late 1980s, a new bout of regional integration (the "new regionalism") began, which still continues today.

Because the international economic environment of the 1990s differs dramatically from that of the 1950s and 1960s, the characteristics of the new regionalism differ from those of the old. I identify the new regionalism with five principles. Although these principles cannot hope to give either an exhaustive or a universal description of the new regionalism (which includes over three dozen diverse arrangements), together they paint a picture that is simple enough to be useful and not too unrealistic to be relevant. My presentation will be terse, because I have discussed this before (see footnote 1).

- One or more *small* countries link up with a *large* country or entity, for example, with the United States in the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), with Brazil in Mercosur, or with the European Union (EU).
- The small countries undertake *significant economic reforms* prior to, or simultaneously with, the regional integration. The major economic event of our age is the wholesale abandonment of communism and of relentless import substitution by scores of countries of the East and the South. Most of these countries have at least tried to enter into regional arrangements, and the small industrial countries establishing regional links have usually, like the new members of the EU, preceded entry with meaningful sectoral reforms.
- The degree of liberalization is *moderate*. This is necessarily so in comparison with the old regionalism, because trade barriers are signifi-

cantly lower now than they were in the 1950s and 1960s. But also, the new arrangements by no means eliminate all internal barriers.

- The agreements are *asymmetric*. The small countries make significantly more concessions than the large countries make. That the United States and the EU should wish to flex their muscles is no cause for surprise, but why are their small partners so anxious to cooperate?
- The partners do not confine themselves to reducing or eliminating tariff barriers; they also harmonize or adjust diverse assortments of other economic policies (*deep* integration).

Regionalism is inherently discriminatory and so is at odds with one of the principles of multilateralism. However, Article XXIV of the GATT explicitly allows free-trade areas and customs unions that substantially abolish all internal trade barriers and, on average, do not raise external barriers. A WTO panel investigates whether a proposed regional initiative is in compliance. The outcome has so far always been nonconfrontational (at least, with regard to the WTO panel). Although important internal barriers remain, the WTO panel declines to find the proposed agreement in violation of Article XXIV. The integrating countries, for their part, contrive to make sure that the remaining barriers are not so outrageous that the panel must choose between confrontation and making a travesty of Article XXIV. For such an outcome to be consistent with the principle that liberalization is moderate, initial trade barriers cannot be too great. Thus, the principles of regionalism, like those of unilateralism, reflect the presence of multilateralism.

5 The Arena

Now that I have reduced each of the constituents of the international commercial system to a few basic principles, I need an arena in which they can interact. To keep such a wide-ranging circus manageable, the arena, too, must be minimalist. I therefore present a simple abstract description of a world economy that will evolve over time in response to the interactions among multilateralism, unilateralism, and regionalism.

The Participants

Imagine a world with two sets of countries, *inside* countries and *out-side* countries. Initially, each outside country has a policy of autarky. The inside countries trade with each other but have high tariff barriers. Some of the inside countries have a comparative advantage in *A*-type goods and some in *B*-type goods. Production of each good entails an

early stage and a late stage. Each firm must conduct the late stage in its home country but may, if it wishes, establish a foreign subsidiary to perform the early stage. Technology is improving at a rate determined by the amount of labor allocated, worldwide, to the comparative-advantage sectors of the trading countries, but technological advance is uneven. Each improvement is discovered and initially utilized only by the technology *leaders*, a randomly determined subset of inside countries, and each improvement occurs first in a randomly determined set of sectors. After an interval, knowledge of the new technology diffuses to all trading countries.

Each outside country has the choice of two policy regimes. Under autarky, no inward foreign direct investment or trade is allowed; the country is self sufficient, producing for its own consumption with a primitive technology. The country cannot adopt the technological advances experienced by the inside countries. Under *successful reform*, trade is liberalized, foreign direct investment is allowed, and some labor is employed by the foreign subsidiaries of inside-country firms for early-stage production. Technology spillovers from these subsidiaries enable the country to use contemporary technology. An attempted reform succeeds if and only if the outside country attracts foreign direct investment. The payoff to successful reform thus depends on the gap between an outside country's primitive technology and the state of contemporary technology in the inside countries. Outside countries will abandon autarky for reform if the expected payoff is sufficiently high, but they differ among themselves about the payoff level required to induce a reform attempt and, therefore, in their willingness to pursue such an attempt.

Trade liberalization by the inside countries will generate static gains, from the exchange of A goods for B goods, and dynamic gains, as the reallocation of resources toward countries' comparative-advantage sectors accelerates the pace of technological advance. The governments of the inside countries realize all this, but they face short-term political-economy constraints (see Hillman, 1982, for more detail on a closely related model). In the short run, resources are immobile between the export and import-competing sectors. This immobility establishes competing special interests, and each government determines its policy by weighing one interest against the other. A government is willing to harm the import-competing interest in order to obtain a greater benefit for exporters, but it is not willing to infuriate any group by harming it too much. Any liberalization will thus be only partial. Risk-averse governments will be even more reluctant to allow large liberalizations,

because they do not know beforehand which sectors and countries will be the technological leaders.

The availability of short-term trade credit means that governments do not perceive, over the short term, the budget constraint that the value of exports should equal the value of imports. Thus, they want to expand exports as much as possible and imports as little as possible, and they do not regard these as two aspects of a single outcome. This predisposes the inside-country governments to prefer trade negotiation to unilateral action; tariffs will be reduced by a government when other governments reciprocate. Each government takes the view that it is exchanging access to its domestic market for foreign importers in return for access to foreign markets for its domestic exporters (see Hillman and Moser, 1996).

The Course of Events

Suppose a succession of periods. At the beginning of each period, the tariff rates of the inside countries, the level of international technology, and the level (unchanging) of primitive outside technology are all inherited from the past. The following sequence of events then takes place within each period:

First, resources are allocated among sectors within each country. The allocations become specific for the rest of the period, so the owners of resources base their decisions about where to locate on their forecasts of what will happen during the rest of the period (but not beyond).

Second, the governments of all inside countries, and of those outside countries that have successfully reformed (initially none), negotiate tariff reductions.

Third, those outside countries that have not yet reformed (initially all) decide whether to attempt to do so. At least in the initial period, all decide against reform.

Fourth, the identity of the technological leaders is determined, with the level of technological advance that they experience depending on the resources allocated to comparative-advantage sectors.

Fifth, the tariff reductions are permanently implemented and trade is realized.

At the end of the period, the technological innovations introduced by the technological leaders become available to all trading countries for the following period. The negotiated tariffs become the initial tariffs for the next period.

All agents are forward looking within each period. Labor is willing to allocate itself to the import-competing sector, because it knows its presence there will constrain the government in its negotiations. The government knows that the consequences of its acts will be determined in part by the still-unknown pattern of subsequent technological advance. For simplicity, no one looks forward across periods: labor knows that it will be unconstrained at the start of the next period (or replaced by new labor), and the government, although it may care about what level of protection it bequeaths to its successor, behaves as though it will be the government no longer.

I intend this framework, in the initial period, to be a highly stylized representation of the international economy of half a century ago. The length of a period should be thought of as roughly corresponding to the time between the start of one GATT round and the start of the next. I do not impose structures corresponding to unilateralism, multilateralism, or regionalism. Instead, I try to determine what structures might be expected to evolve endogenously in such a framework.

6 How It Works

At last my stage is set. Before plunging ahead, however, I summarize, for purposes of comparison, what I believe to be the most widely held views about some elements of the international commercial system.

The Conventional View

The conventional view is that nondiscrimination (MFN) is desirable because it causes bilateral agreements to have multilateral consequences. But nondiscrimination also involves a *free-rider* problem: Country 1 will be tempted to refrain from offering concessions in the hope of benefiting, without cost, from the concessions Countries 2 and 3 extend to each other. The free-rider problem can be expected to become more severe as the number of countries increases, so that multilateral agreements among a large number of countries are difficult to secure.

Administered protection and VERs are unambiguously harmful, but if unilateralism is a necessary evil, it should be exercised subject to MFN wherever possible. This will minimize the inconsistency with a liberal multilateral order and will, perhaps, make countries more reluctant to practice unilateral protection.

The new regionalism is a response to the increasing difficulty of achieving multilateral agreements. In addition to the possibility of traditional trade diversion, these arrangements will impede further multilateral progress and, indeed, will threaten the continued existence of past liberalization.

This curt summary of the conventional view is necessarily a caricature, with all details, qualifications, and elaborations ruthlessly stripped away. But it will do as a point of comparison. It will become apparent below that I believe the conventional view to be fundamentally misguided.

Multilateralism and Nondiscrimination

Our outside countries are in autarky and satisfied to be there. The inside countries are trading with each other, but subject to high tariff barriers, and their governments know they can do better. Each government is willing to concede some market access, harming import-competing interests, in exchange for foreign-market access that will benefit export interests. Because of comparative advantage, the static gains will outweigh the losses. With many governments acting in this manner, the global reallocation toward comparative advantages will accelerate the pace of technological advance, conferring dynamic gains. All inside governments know this, and they are free to negotiate with each other bilaterally, multilaterally, or in whatever manner they choose. What will happen? Without MFN, absolutely nothing.

Suppose that Country 1, with a comparative advantage in *A* goods, has received an offer from the government of Country 2, which has a comparative advantage in B goods, for a reciprocal reduction of 20 percent in the tariffs levied on each other's goods. And suppose that the government of Country 1 believes that the implied exchange of market access will be a net benefit. But if Country 2's offer is not accompanied by an offer of MFN status, Country 1 will not regard the offer as meaningful, because Country 1 will be fully aware that Country 2 will have every incentive subsequently to offer, even before the ink is dry, a reciprocal concession of, say, 21 percent, to some other country (Country 3) that has a comparative advantage in A goods. Such a subsequent agreement would enable Country 2 to obtain access to the market of Country 3 by simply diverting to Country 3 the access it had previously granted to Country 1, leaving Country 1 with nothing to show for the access it has conceded. The threat of such concession diversion will confront any country producing goods for which reasonably close substitutes exist elsewhere and contemplating any sort of trade agreement (whether bilateral or multilateral) that does not provide for completely free trade. Without MFN, substantive trade negotiations are simply impossible; this has nothing to do with multilateralism.⁵

 $^{^{5}}$ For contrasting treatments of the role of MFN in multilateral tariff bargaining, see Caplin and Krishna (1988) and Ludema (1991).

This is the reason why MFN was a feature of all the dozens of bilateral agreements reached by the United States under the authority of the Reciprocal Trade Agreements Act, before the GATT even existed. It is why MFN was common in bilateral European agreements before World War I. And it is why the United States, when it followed a policy of high protection and had little interest in negotiated tariff reductions, was content to use a bastardized "conditional" MFN offering partners little real assurance of freedom from concession diversion.

Suppose, then, that our inside countries commence negotiations, that the negotiations are bilateral, and that they all embody MFN, as they must. The negotiations are concluded, the agreements are implemented, and trade commences. Then the next period begins, resources are reallocated within each country, and the inside countries are ready for a new round of negotiations to reduce trade barriers further. Eventually, free-rider problems are going to matter. The conventional view is right about this, although for the wrong reason.

The first time a country negotiates a bilateral trade agreement, the inclusion of MFN status is costless as well as necessary. Inclusion remains costless as long as subsequent bilateral negotiations do not seek to reduce tariffs below the level reached in the initial agreement. Once a negotiation seeks to reduce the tariffs further, however, the total market access a country must concede to the world will be some multiple of the access it offers to concede to its negotiating partner, and that multiple will be larger the greater the number of agreements the country has already reached. In addition, the more agreements its negotiating partner has reached, the less the value to the country of any given offer of market access from that partner. Note that what matters is not the number of countries, but the number of agreements already entered into by any pair of potential negotiators. The distinction is important because the number of countries does not grow over time, but the number of agreements does. Eventually, this number will reach a saturation point: there will no longer exist any pair of countries for which a mutually beneficial reciprocal tariff reduction is possible. At this point, further negotiations will of necessity be multilateral.

It is true, as the conventional view stresses, that such negotiations will be constrained by the temptation of countries to free ride. But the more fundamental point is that the use of MFN eventually makes multilateralism inevitable.

Negotiations must become multilateral, but they need not be global. Negotiations at some subglobal level might in fact mitigate the freerider problem, but any subglobal level will have its own saturation point. I am not yet ready to consider the role of regionalism in the international commercial system, however, so the argument summarized to this point is that

if reasonably close substitutes exist for each country's products, trade agreements that do not extend to free trade cannot be negotiated without MFN because of the possibility of concession diversion. Once the number of agreements reaches the saturation point, only multilateral negotiation is feasible. In other words, the GATT did not beget MFN; MFN begat the GATT.

Multilateral Liberalization

In light of the above, assume that the inside countries conduct multilateral negotiations. Each government would, *ex post*, like to renege on the concession it has made, if it could get away with it, but it knows punishment would follow. Negotiated tariff reductions do not offer a country an opportunity to get a significant jump on its partners by acting first. If Country 1 raises its tariff by 5 percent, Countries 2, 3, and so on can follow suit even before Country 1 is able to implement the increase. If Country 2 makes the 5 percent cut it has promised but Country 1 does not follow suit, Country 2 can cancel the reduction virtually at once. It does not make sense to model a negotiated tariff reduction as the start of a repeated game in which deviation today will be punished in the future: deviation today is punished today.⁶ Much more compelling is the assumption of a threat of simultaneous tit-fortat. If Country 1 lowers its tariff 5 percent less than promised, its trading partners will follow suit at once.

Such a threat can support any negotiated tariff reduction that, *ex post*, every country wants to have generally adopted. But it can support no reduction in excess of that which any country regards as optimal. If some government were to find, *ex post*, that it had agreed to a general tariff reduction greater than the reduction it now wants, it would simply implement a smaller reduction, willingly accepting the retaliation that action would cause. Because every government realizes this, such reductions would never be negotiated in the first place. Thus, the outcome of the multilateral negotiation will be the smallest of the various tariff reductions that, if generally adopted, will maximize *ex post* the objective functions of the respective negotiating governments.

⁶ It is true that, when James Madison introduced the first U.S. tariff bill in Congress in April 1789, he hoped to have it apply to the spring imports shipped in ignorance of the tariff. But those days are long gone.

Which will this be? The basic problem is that the inside countries must negotiate a tariff reduction before they fully know the economic environment in which the lowered tariffs will apply. When automotive tariffs came down in the 1960s, it was not known that the Japanese industry would become as strong as it did in the late 1970s. In my world, no one knows beforehand which industry will first see the next wave of technological advance and which countries, among those with a comparative advantage in those industrial sectors, will first experience it.

Each country knows that it might find itself in any of three groups: leaders, laggards, or followers. I label as leaders those countries that experience the technological advance, as laggards, those countries that have a comparative disadvantage in the goods undergoing advance, and as followers, those countries that have a comparative advantage in the goods undergoing the advance but that do not themselves experience it. Although countries do not know in advance to which group they will belong, they do know that the rate of multilateral tariff reduction will be determined by the group that prefers the smallest multilateral reduction. So I shall examine each group individually.

Leaders are the countries whose exporters are most able to compete. Because they can make the most use of foreign-market access, they will probably be most willing to give up something for it. They do not look like good candidates for the group preferring the smallest common tariff reduction.

Laggards, by contrast, are the countries whose import-competing firms are "taking it on the chin" from the technological leaders. Because governments are assumed to be especially concerned that no special-interest suffers a big loss, these countries must be regarded as candidates for wanting the smallest common reduction. But, at least, they obtain cheaper imports.

Followers do not observe their import-competing sectors suffering because of technological advance, but their exporters are at a disadvantage in competing with the exporters of the leaders. Thus, they value foreign-market access less highly and are presumably less willing to pay for it. This group might also prefer the smallest common reduction.

The bottom line is that I expect the interests of the laggards—whoever they might turn out to be—to determine the common rate of tariff reduction, but it is possible that, at least some of the time, the followers will do so. Thus, the conclusion is that

multilateral tariff negotiations will result in the common tariff reduction that maximizes *ex post* the objective function of the laggard or the follower governments.

Thus far, I have described multilateral negotiations in the absence of unilateralism. The rate of multilateral tariff reduction is limited to the lowest reduction any country would prefer *ex post*. Can anything be done to improve on these unsatisfactory prospects? To explore this question, I now allow inside countries the option of establishing, before the onset of a negotiating round, a rule stipulating circumstances under which protection might be granted to some fraction of beleaguered import-competing interests *after* the completion of negotiations and *after* the revelation of which goods and countries are to be the technological leaders. Because the purpose of such measures is at least partly to preserve an outcome for special interests in the face of unanticipated developments, the measures must be either quantitative or sufficiently nimble in execution that it does not matter whether they are explicitly quantitative or not. Will countries wish to institute such a rule? Would it help?

The countries that turn out to be laggards are the ones that can, ex post, apply such a rule, but will they wish to do so if the rule is in place? Clearly, they will not wish to apply the rule if they are confident that doing so will prompt retaliation. This would simply be a rollback of the negotiated tariff reductions that are, as argued above, already no greater than those that any country wants ex post. Will the countries that turn out to be leaders retaliate? The effect of such a rollback would be to move the common tariff reduction even farther away from the level the leaders want. Still, if the laggards unilaterally increase protection, the leaders will retaliate, for two reasons. First, the unilateral protection would amount to concession reneging: because the leaders will not receive all the market access for which they have bargained, they will not want to grant all the access they have promised. Second, the unilateral protection implies that, at the next round of multilateral negotiations, the laggards will have a higher initial level of protection from which to negotiate: the unilateral action gives them future bargaining chips. The leaders will want to retaliate in order to acquire matching bargaining chips of their own. Thus, if the laggards take unilateral action, the leaders will have every reason to retaliate. Because everyone realizes this, such a rule will be of no value and will be neither instituted nor used, unless the rule can be fashioned in such a way as to eliminate the motive for retaliation.

This can be done. To eliminate the bargaining-chip problem, the rule needs to call for *temporary* protection that will automatically expire and so need not be bargained down. To make concession reneging

acceptable, the rule must provide compensation to the leaders. Allowing them to capture the trade rents generated by the unilateral measures will contribute to such compensation and may be enough. They need not be fully compensated for their loss of market access, just compensated enough so that they are not tempted to forsake the compensation by retaliating. Still, we cannot count on the trade rents alone being enough, so it is important to realize that there will be a second source of compensation as well. To see this, assume for a moment that it is the laggard countries that want the smallest multilateral tariff decrease, so their desires are reflected in the resulting agreement. The ability to grant ex post protection, free of retaliation, to some fraction of import-competing interests will increase the common rate of tariff reduction that is optimal for the laggards and, therefore, the negotiated rate of tariff reduction. This is an unambiguous benefit to the leaders, who want a greater common tariff reduction than can be negotiated. For the fraction of goods that receive ex post protection, the leaders receive larger trade rents; for the fraction that do not, the leaders receive greater market access.

Now consider the reactions of the followers. These countries end up competing, at a disadvantage, with the leaders in the import markets of the laggards. The rents associated with unilateral protective measures by the laggards are worth much less to the followers, who have not experienced cost reductions, than to the leaders. Also, the followers will gain less from an increase in the negotiated rate of tariff reduction. Prospects are therefore dim that these countries will be compensated enough to forestall retaliation. Furthermore, if the followers, rather than the laggards, prefer the smallest rate of common tariff reduction, the increase in the negotiated rate of reduction, which is the second source of compensation for the leaders, will not occur; indeed, that rate may well decrease. Thus, the entire case for unilateralism will unravel unless the interests of the followers are addressed. For this reason, the unilateral measures must necessarily be discriminatory. If the measures apply to the leaders but not to the followers, the followers will have nothing against which to retaliate. The unilateral measures will enhance their ability to compete in the markets of the laggards. The followers will consequently now prefer a greater common rate of tariff reduction. The negotiated tariff reduction will increase, regardless of whether the preferences of the followers or of the laggards are decisive in determining the outcome of the negotiations.

The underlying logic of multilateral liberalization thus implies the emergence of a system of unilateralism embodying exactly those principles

that, I have argued, characterize contemporary unilateralism. Multilateralism encourages the introduction of tools of unilateralism that are quantitative, temporary, and discriminatory, and that give compensation to exporters. This introduction accelerates the rate of multilateral tariff reduction and benefits each country, both *ex ante* and *ex post*. The application of unilateralism can be expected to increase over time as tariff barriers fall, resources are increasingly allocated to sectors showing comparative advantage, and the pace of technological advance increases.

Multilateralism and Regionalism

The static gains from trade liberalization accrue to the trading countries themselves, but the dynamic gains also increase the opportunity cost to the outside countries of an autarky policy. Suppose that the liberalization by the inside countries proceeds far enough that some outside countries decide to attempt reform.

These countries believe that, for reform to succeed, they must attract significant foreign direct investment, which is seen as the key to successful entry into the multilateral trading system. Multinational firms are a prime means of technology transfer, and they can supply international contacts and modern commercial methods to countries whose past policies have left them with little of either. There are two potential pitfalls, however. First, if many similar outside countries attempt reform at about the same time, they become competitors in attracting foreign direct investment from the inside countries.8 That is, a reforming country would need to distinguish itself from its rivals. To the extent that the decision to reform reflects a common situation—the growing opportunity cost of autarky in the face of a developing multilateral system—there is every reason to expect many outside countries to try to reform at about the same time. Second, a major concern of potential investors is that the reforms not be undone in the future. That is, the reformers need to bind future regimes to the reforms.

Competition among reforming countries to attract foreign direct investment should be keen. A small national advantage offers the hope of attracting a large amount of foreign direct investment. There are three mutually reinforcing reasons to expect this. First, with similar

 $^{^7\,\}mathrm{See}$ Hillman and Ursprung (1995) for more on the links between trade liberalization, reform, political economy, and foreign investment.

⁸ Brainard and Riker (1997) and Riker and Brainard (1997) provide relevant evidence that workers in foreign subsidiaries of multinational firms compete with workers in other subsidiaries located in similar host countries, rather than with workers in dissimilar source countries.

outside countries competing, small advantages can prove decisive. Second, direct investment is "lumpy": a factory must be put in one place. Third, the basic advantages that reforming countries see in direct investment involve externalities, and these externalities render a site more attractive for additional direct investment. Firms in the inside countries are tempted to invest in the potential reformers, to take advantage of the reformers' comparative advantage in early-stage production, but the firms have substantial latitude in deciding where to invest, because there are many reformers with fairly similar economic characteristics. Firms will tend to locate together, however, because of the lumpy nature of direct investment and because there will be positive externalities between foreign subsidiaries.

Under these circumstances, successful reform by an individual country will be uncertain but more probable the greater the aggregate amount of direct investment from the inside countries relative to the number of countries attempting reform, that is, relative to the number of potential targets of that investment. A reforming country's prospects will be improved if it can somehow distinguish itself from its rivals.

Regional arrangements might play a role in this scenario. I define a regional agreement as an agreement between one inside country and one outside country in which the outside country commits to the details of an attempted reform and to giving the goods of its partner preferential treatment, and the inside country commits to making a small reduction in the duty applicable to goods imported from its partner country. Note that this definition reflects the principles of regionalism as one or more small, reforming countries linking up with a large country in an arrangement characterized by asymmetrical concessions and deep integration.

A reforming outside country can now choose between two paths of attempted reform. It can adopt the *nondiscriminatory* route of simply adopting the common tariff of the inside countries and participating in subsequent multilateral negotiations. Alternatively, it can attempt to negotiate a regional arrangement with some inside country (and participate in subsequent multilateral negotiations). Suppose, for simplicity, that each potential reformer regards the products of all inside countries as perfect substitutes. Together with my other assumptions, this removes

⁹ Alternative treatments of regionalism, very much different from the discussion that follows, may be found in Krugman (1991), Chichilnisky (1994), Perroni and Whalley (1994), Bhagwati and Panagariya (1996), Bond and Syropoulos (1996), Yi (1996), Bagwell and Staiger (1997a, 1997b), Baldwin (1997), and Freund (1997).

the possibility of negative welfare effects from trade diversion. But this is a pertinent oversimplification. The reform attempt has been motivated by the success of the inside countries in reducing trade barriers, a reduction that makes trade diversion—even if very large in magnitude, as high substitution would suggest—of much less welfare significance.

Consider, first, the effects of such an arrangement on a potential reformer. The trade preference implies that all imports will come from the partner country, because the reforming country regards the goods of all inside countries as perfect substitutes. But such trade diversion does not matter here. The preference granted by the inside-country partner, however, although only marginal, does matter. From the point of view of firms considering direct investment to provide early-stage inputs for the products of the inside-country partner, all reforming countries are equivalent, except for this marginal preference. The outside-country partner thus attracts all of this investment. The *investment diversion* the regional arrangement generates thus ensures that the reform will succeed.

Investment diversion is the reason why reforming countries find regional arrangements attractive, even though they typically receive only "minor" concessions from their partners. The goal is to compete successfully with other *similar* countries for direct investment, not to greatly expand exports to their partners or to attract from them direct investments that would otherwise not be made at all. Such *investment creation* will be modest at best.

But regional arrangements are not the only way outside countries can compete for direct investment. They might also offer subsidies, tax holidays, and the like. This is where the second potential pitfall comes in.

One way—sometimes the only way—to bind future regimes to the reforms is to establish an external commitment. The more likely that backsliding from an external commitment will induce retaliation, the more likely such a commitment is to sustain reform. The more specific the reform measures that are embodied in an external commitment, the more likely that commitment is to sustain reform. The multilateral negotiations that are making participation in the international economy more rewarding also offer reforming outside countries a potential external commitment binding future governments to the reform measures. But multilateral negotiations are of little practical use. They provide no enforcement mechanism should a country backslide, and inside countries would not put the multilateral system at risk merely to punish a single deviant reformer. Even if they wanted to punish transgressors, they are likely to have little formal justification for doing so,

because multilateral agreements would not embody detailed reform measures by individual outside countries.

But regional arrangements can address both problems. An agreement with a large country (often the dominant trading partner) adds a credible enforcement mechanism. Because such arrangements allow for deep integration, they can contain obligations to undertake specific measures central to the reform effort. This is clearly illustrated by the Canadian-U.S. free-trade agreement and by NAFTA. The commitment aspect gives regional arrangements a unique role in the competition for direct investment among reforming outside countries.

An individual regional arrangement will not be uniformly beneficial, however. Other reforming countries will suffer. Suppose an outside country that would try reform anyway enters into a regional arrangement. Direct investment producing early-stage goods for that country's partner will all be diverted to that country, and the country will still remain a potential host for other direct investment. Less direct investment therefore remains for other reforming countries, reducing their prospects for success and perhaps deterring some of them from even trying reform. Regionalism can produce reform destruction, causing fewer countries to attempt reform and lowering the proportion of those that succeed. The country involved in the regional arrangement, however, may not itself have attempted reform (reform creation) in the absence of such an arrangement, so the number of reforming countries may either rise or fall, depending on the balance between reform creation and reform destruction.

It would be a mistake, however, to consider only the effects of an isolated regional arrangement when regional arrangements are, in fact, becoming ubiquitous. So, consider the general equilibrium that will emerge if all countries are allowed freely to negotiate regional arrangements, including the possibility of a single country's entering into multiple relationships.

If several reformers establish regional arrangements with a single inside country, the value of the arrangements to these reformers will be eroded—because direct investment may well cluster mainly in some subset of them all. For this reason, the reforming countries will spread themselves out in their choices of partners. If there are at least as many inside countries as potential reformers, each of the latter can find a partner that will guarantee the success of its reform effort. This may or may not be true if there are fewer inside countries, depending upon the amount of direct investment forthcoming. Nevertheless, the ability to enter freely into regional arrangements will maximize the extent and

the probability of successful reform and, by doing so, also maximize the number of countries that are induced to attempt reform.

The global interest calls for successful reform to be as widespread as possible. This will maximize the multilateral trading system, accentuating both the benefits (static and dynamic) that it generates and the number of nations that receive those benefits. But this global externality will be ignored by multinational firms, which, in the absence of regional arrangements, will have clustered their foreign investments together. A single regional arrangement may be either good or bad by itself, but this regional general equilibrium will, in effect, internalize the global externality and produce an outcome unambiguously superior to that which can be achieved without regionalism. Reforming outside countries will establish regional arrangements with inside countries to compete among themselves for direct investment. This competition has the effect of internalizing a key externality, maximizing the extent of successful reform.

Multilateralism, Unilateralism, and Regionalism

The proliferation of regional arrangements maximizes the extent of successful reform. This increases the size of the multilateral system and therefore the gains resulting from past liberalization, and it also implies that subsequent liberalization will produce larger gains, both static and dynamic, than it would have produced without the reforms. Without unilateralism, however, regionalism will slow down multilateral progress, not accelerate it. This happens because the addition of the outside countries to the multilateral order increases the diversity within this order and so almost certainly reduces the lowest rate of common tariff reduction acceptable *ex post*. In any case, because this lowest rate cannot possibly rise, the advent of regionalism intensifies the critical importance of unilateralism for multilateralism.

The implication of regionalism for the relation between multilateralism and unilateralism is obvious, but the relation between unilateralism and regionalism itself is inherently ambiguous. This is because, on the one hand, unilateralism may be necessary to induce the partners to come to a regional agreement, and, on the other hand, unilateralism may itself be what the regional arrangement is all about. Which of these considerations dominates depends on circumstances. Thus, in some regional arrangements, such as the EU, unilateralism may be only *external*, that is, directed solely at outsiders; in others, such as the Europe Agreements between the EU and Central European countries, it may be *internal* as well. The NAFTA provides an interesting blend. Canada and Mexico remain subject to U.S. unilateralism, but they have

channels of appeal not available to outsiders. Internal unilateralism was almost certainly necessary for U.S. adherence. The appeals procedures are relatively modest advantages, but, for reasons argued above, such modest advantages can be of considerable importance for the partners.

Unilateralism is necessary if regionalism is not to slow down the pace of subsequent multilateral reform.

7 Conclusions

I have argued that the ways in which the nations of the world together conduct trade policies can usefully be viewed as a coherent international commercial system possessing three components. The argument consists of (1) the reduction of each component to a few basic principles, (2) a simple abstract framework for analysis, and (3) a discussion about the way in which the components relate to each other. The essential elements of these relationships are as follows.

- In a world in which reasonably close substitutes for each country's products can be found elsewhere, reciprocal trade negotiations of any sort—that do not intend to go all the way to free trade—require any agreements to provide for MFN status.
- As trade agreements featuring MFN accumulate, additional negotiations will eventually have to be multilateral.
- The pace of multilaterally negotiated tariff reduction is limited to the smallest reduction any country might want *ex post*.
- This pace can be accelerated by the introduction of unilateralism allowing for temporary, quantitative, discriminatory protection that compensates restricted exporters.
- Successful multilateralism increases the temptation for countries with antitrade policies to reform and seek to enter the multilateral system. Regionalism facilitates this entry and, by internalizing a key externality, maximizes the extent of its success.
- By increasing the diversity within the multilateral order, regionalism causes unilateralism to become even more important for further multilateral progress.

Even though it took me the better part of a decade to get here, the argument summarized above now strikes me as both elementary and obvious. Yet, key parts of it are dramatically at odds with what I have caricatured as "the conventional view," with what policy-oriented economists say, and with what formal models imply. The most insightful (to my knowledge) formal treatment of many of the issues addressed

above is provided by Kyle Bagwell and Robert Staiger (1996, 1998). They reach conclusions diametrically at odds, in many ways, with my own. We cannot both be right (but we can both be wrong).

I see two possible reasons for our differences, and they are not mutually exclusive. First, I just might have it all wrong. Second, the difference in conclusions may reflect, at least in part, a difference in methodology. Instead of analyzing in isolation each component of what I call the international commercial system, or treating one component as exogenous and asking what its implications are for some other component, I have stressed an interplay among the three. I maintain that it is a mistake to address basic trade-policy issues—Is MFN desirable? Should VERs be phased out? Should safeguards no longer be nondiscriminatory? Should new regional arrangements be discouraged?—without a picture of the overall system and in ignorance of the reasons why the measures under consideration exist at all.

But enough of all that. I close with two of the tough questions. My answers will be subjective, not inevitable consequences of the above.

Should economists welcome individual acts of unilateralism, recognizing the benefits unilateralism has for multilateral liberalization?

No. We should fight them tooth and nail. The ultimate brake on liberalization, in my view, is the reluctance of governments to allow liberalization that harms someone, as all liberalization must. ¹⁰ Individuals realize this and act accordingly. A willingness to protect generates the need to protect. Even though unilateralism is a boon for multilateralism, individual protectionist acts should be consistently resisted. Institutional changes to reduce the willingness to protect are presumptively desirable, so Bhagwati's (1988) discussion of trade-adjustment assistance is pertinent. ¹¹ But attempts to eliminate unilateralist tools, or to make them nondiscriminatory, are pointless at best and harmful at worst.

• Is the new regionalism a good thing?

Yes. But it requires a new vigilance. Regionalism is where the action is, so regionalism is where protectionist efforts will be directed. The signs of those efforts are everywhere.

¹⁰ Much of the gains-from-trade literature notwithstanding.

¹¹ K.C. Fung and Robert Staiger (1996) provide an alternative perspective on tradeadjustment assistance, but one that is still appropriately concerned with liberalization.

References

- Bagwell, Kyle, and Robert W. Staiger, "Reciprocal Trade Liberalization," Discussion Paper 1150, Center for Mathematical Studies in Economic and Management Science, Northwestern University, Evanston, Ill., January 1996.
- ——, "Multilateral Tariff Cooperation During the Formation of Customs Unions," *Journal of International Economics*, 42 (February 1997a), pp. 91–123.
- ——, "Multilateral Tariff Cooperation During the Formation of Free Trade Areas," *International Economic Review*, 38 (May 1997b), pp. 291–319.
- ——, "Will Preferential Agreements Undermine the Multilateral Trading System?" *Economic Journal*, 108 (July 1998), pp. 1162–1182.
- Baldwin, Richard E., "The Causes of Regionalism," *The World Economy*, 20 (November 1997), pp. 865–888.
- Bhagwati, Jagdish, Protectionism, Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press, 1988.
- Bhagwati, Jagdish, and Arvind Panagariya, "Preferential Trading Areas and Multilateralism: Strangers, Friends or Foes?" in Bhagwati and Panagariya, eds., *The Economics of Preferential Trade Agreements*, Washington, D.C., AEI Press, 1996, pp. 1–78.
- Bond, Eric, and Constantinos Syropoulos, "Trading Blocs and the Sustainability of Inter-Regional Cooperation," in Matthew B. Canzoneri, Wilfred J. Ethier, and Vittorio Grilli, eds., *The New Transatlantic Economy*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1996, pp. 118–141.
- Brainard, S. Lael, and David A. Riker, "Are U.S. Multinationals Exporting U.S. Jobs?" National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 5958, Cambridge, Mass., National Bureau of Economic Research, March 1997.
- Caplin, Andrew, and Kala Krishna, "Tariffs and the MFN Clause: A Game Theoretic Approach," *Seoul Journal of Economics*, 1 (September 1988), pp. 267–290.
- Chichilnisky, Graciela, "Trading Blocks with Endogenous Technology and Increasing Returns," Department of Economics, Columbia University, processed, 1994.
- Ethier, Wilfred J., "National and International Returns to Scale in the Modern Theory of International Trade," *American Economic Review*, 72 (June 1982a), pp. 389–405.
- ——, "Dumping," *Journal of Political Economy*, 90 (June 1982b), pp. 487–506.
 ——, "The Economics and Political Economy of Managed Trade," in Arye L. Hillman, ed., *Markets and Politicians*, Boston, Kluwer, 1991a, pp. 283–306.
- ——, "Voluntary Export Restraints," in Akira Takayama, Michihiro Ohyama, and Hiroshi Ohta, eds., *Trade, Policy, and International Adjustments*, San Diego, Academic Press, 1991b, pp. 3–18.
- ——, "Antidumping Laws in an Imperfectly Competitive Environment," in M. Thomas Paul, ed., *International Monetary, Banking and Trade Systems and Economic Development*, Pune, India, National Institute of Bank Management, 1992a, pp 131–144.

- ——, "The Multinational Firm," in Gene M. Grossman, ed., *Imperfect Competition and International Trade*, Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press, 1992b, pp. 303–324 (previously published 1986).
- ——, "An Antidumping Law with a Distorted Home Market," in Horst Herberg and Ngo Van Long, eds., *Trade*, *Welfare*, *and Economic Policies: Essays in Honor of Murray C. Kemp*, Ann Arbor, University of Michigan Press, 1993, pp 279–297.
- ——, "Conceptual Foundations from Trade, Multinational Firm and Foreign Direct Investment Theory," in Maury E. Bredahl, Philip C. Abbot, and Michael R. Reed, eds., *Competitiveness in International Food Markets*, Boulder, Colo., Westview, 1994a, pp. 105–128.
- ——, "Multinational Firms in the Theory of International Trade," in Edmar L. Bacha, ed., Economics in a Changing World: Proceedings of the Tenth World Congress of the International Economic Association, Vol. 4: Development, Trade and the Environment, New York, St. Martin's, and London, Macmillan, 1994b, pp. 3–33.
- ——, "Protección discrecional en la economía mundial contemporánea (Discretionary Protection and the Contemporary World Economy)," *Cuadernos Economicos de ICE*, 57 (No. 2, 1994c), pp. 231–242.
- ——, "Internationally Decreasing Costs and World Trade," in Peter J. Neary, ed., *International Trade*, Vol. 2: Production Structure, Trade and Growth, Aldershot, U.K., and Brookfield, Vt., Edward Elgar, 1995, pp. 161–184 (previously published 1979).
- ——, "Multilateral Roads to Regionalism," forthcoming in John Piggot and Alan Woodland, eds., *International Trade Policy and the Pacific Rim*, London, Macmillan, 1998a.
- ——, "The New Regionalism," *Economic Journal*, 108 (July 1998b), pp. 1149–1161.
 ——, "Unilateralism in a Multilateral World," Department of Economics, University of Pennsylvania, processed, August 1998c.
- ——, "Regionalism in a Multilateral World," forthcoming in *Journal of Political Economy*, 106 (December 1998d).
- ——, "Regionalism, International Trade and Multinational Firm Location," in Jean Louis Mucchielli, *Multinational Location Strategy: Economic Management and Policy*, Greenwich, Conn., JAI Press, 1998e, pp. 3–28.
- Ethier, Wilfred J., and Arthur I. Bloomfield, *Managing the Managed Float*, Essays in International Finance No. 112, Princeton, N.J., Princeton University, International Finance Section, October 1975.
- Ethier, Wilfred J., and Ronald Fischer, "The New Protectionism," *Journal of International Economic Integration*, 2 (Autumn 1987), pp 1–11.
- Ethier, Wilfred J., and Henrik Horn, "A New Look at Economic Integration," in Henryk Kierzkowski, ed., *Monopolistic Competition and International Trade*, Oxford, Clarendon, 1984, pp. 207–229.
- ——, "Managerial Control of International Firms and Patterns of Direct Investment," *Journal of International Economics*, 28 (February 1990), pp. 25–45.

- ——, "Results-Oriented Trade Policy," Review of International Economics, 4 (February, 1996), pp. 17–39.
- Ethier, Wilfred J., and James R. Markusen, "Multinational Firms, Technology Diffusion and Trade," *Journal of International Economics*, 41 (August, 1996), pp. 1–28.
- Ethier, Wilfred J., and Richard C. Marston, eds., with Charles P. Kindleberger, Jack Guttentag, Richard Herring, Henry C. Wallich, Dale W. Henderson, and Randall Hinshaw, *International Financial Markets and Capital Movements: A Symposium in Honor of Arthur I. Bloomfield*, Essays in International Finance No. 157, Princeton, N.J., Princeton University, International Finance Section, September 1985.
- Freund, Caroline L., "Multilateralism and the Endogenous Formation of PTAs," Washington, D.C., Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, processed, 1997.
- Fung, K. C., and Robert W. Staiger, "Trade Liberalization and Trade Adjustment Assistance," in Matthew B. Canzoneri, Wilfred J. Ethier, and Vittorio Grilli, eds., *The New Transatlantic Economy*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1996, pp. 265–286.
- Harris, Richard, "Why Voluntary Export Restraints are 'Voluntary," in Peter J. Neary, ed., *International Trade*, Vol. 1: Welfare and Trade Policy, Aldershot, U.K., and Brookfield, Vt., Edward Elgar, 1995, pp. 420–430 (previously published 1985).
- Hillman, Arye L., "Declining Industries and Political-Support Protectionist Motives," *American Economic Review*, 72 (December 1982), pp. 1180–1187.
- ——, "Protectionist Policies as the Regulation of International Industry," *Public Choice*, 67 (November 1990), pp. 101–110.
- Hillman, Arye L., and Peter Moser, "Trade Liberalization as Politically Optimal Exchange of Market Access," in Matthew B. Canzoneri, Wilfred J. Ethier, and Vittorio Grilli, eds., The New Transatlantic Economy, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1996, pp. 295–312.
- Hillman, Arye L., and Heinrich W. Ursprung, "Domestic Politics, Foreign Interests, and International Trade Policy," in Peter J. Neary, ed., *International Trade*, Vol. 1: Welfare and Trade Policy, Aldershot, U.K., and Brookfield, Vt., Edward Elgar, 1995, pp. 493–509 (previously published 1988).
- ———, "The Political Economy of Trade Liberalization in the Transition," European Economic Review, 40 (April 1996), pp. 783–794.
- Krishna, Kala, "Trade Restrictions as Facilitating Practices," *Journal of International Economics*, 26 (May 1989), pp. 251–270.
- Krugman, Paul R., "Is Bilateralism Bad?" in Elhanan Helpman and Assaf Razin, eds., *International Trade and Trade Policy*, Cambridge, Mass., and London, MIT Press, 1991, pp. 9–23.
- Ludema, Rodney R., "International Trade Bargaining and the Most-Favored-Nation Clause," *Economics and Politics*, 3 (March 1991), pp. 1–20.
- Perroni, Carlo, and John Whalley, "The New Regionalism: Trade Liberalization or Insurance?" National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper

- No. 4626, Cambridge, Mass., National Bureau of Economic Research, January 1994.
- Prusa, Thomas J., "Why Are Antidumping Petitions Withdrawn?" *Journal of International Economics*, 33 (August 1992), pp. 1–20.
- Riker, David A., and S. Lael Brainard, "U.S. Multinationals and Competition from Low Wage Countries," National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 5959, Cambridge, Mass., National Bureau of Economic Research, March 1997.
- Yi, Sang Seung, "Endogenous Formation of Customs Unions under Imperfect Competition: Open Regionalism Is Good," *Journal of International Economics*, 41 (August 1996), pp. 153–177.

FRANK D. GRAHAM MEMORIAL LECTURERS

1950-1951 Milton Friedman Iames E. Meade 1951-1952 1952-1953 Sir Dennis Robertson 1953-1954 Paul A. Samuelson 1955-1956 Gottfried Haberler 1956-1957 Ragnar Nurkse 1957-1958 Albert O. Hirschman Robert Triffin 1959-1960 Jacob Viner 1960-1961 Don Patinkin 1961-1962 1962-1963 Friedrich A. Lutz (Essay 41) 1963-1964 Tibor Scitovsky (Essay 49) 1964-1965 Sir John Hicks 1965-1966 Robert A. Mundell 1966-1967 Jagdish N. Bhagwati (Special Paper 8) 1967-1968 Arnold C. Harberger Harry G. Johnson 1968-1969 Richard N. Cooper (Essay 86) 1969-1970 1970-1971 W. Max Corden (Essay 93) 1971 - 1972Richard E. Caves (Special Paper 10) 1972-1973 Paul A. Volcker 1973-1974 J. Marcus Fleming (Essay 107) 1974 - 1975Anne O. Krueger (Study 40) 1975-1976 Ronald W. Jones (Special Paper 12) 1976-1977 Ronald I. McKinnon (Essay 125) 1977 - 1978Charles P. Kindleberger (Essay 129) 1978-1979 Bertil Ohlin (Essay 134) 1979-1980 Bela Balassa (Essay 141) 1980 - 1981Marina von Neumann Whitman (Essay 143) 1981-1982 Robert E. Baldwin (Essay 150) 1983-1984 Stephen Marris (Essay 155) 1984-1985 Rudiger Dornbusch (Essay 165) 1986-1987 Jacob A. Frenkel (Study 63) 1987-1988 Ronald Findlay (Essay 177) 1988-1989 Michael Bruno (Essay 183) Elhanan Helpman (Special Paper 16) 1988-1989 Michael L. Mussa (Essay 179) 1989-1990 1990 - 1991Toyoo Gyohten 1991-1992 Stanley Fischer 1992-1993 Paul Krugman (Essay 190) 1993-1994 Edward E. Leamer (Study 77) 1994-1995 **Jeffrey Sachs** Barry Eichengreen (Essay 198) 1995-1996 1996-1997 Wilfred J. Ethier (Essay 210) 1997-1998 Maurice Obstfeld (Essay 209)

PUBLICATIONS OF THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

Notice to Contributors

The International Finance Section publishes papers in four series: ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, and SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS contain new work not published elsewhere. REPRINTS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE reproduce journal articles previously published by Princeton faculty members associated with the Section. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication under the following guidelines:

ESSAYS are meant to disseminate new views about international financial matters and should be accessible to well-informed nonspecialists as well as to professional economists. Technical terms, tables, and charts should be used sparingly; mathematics should be avoided.

STUDIES are devoted to new research on international finance, with preference given to empirical work. They should be comparable in originality and technical proficiency to papers published in leading economic journals. They should be of medium length, longer than a journal article but shorter than a book.

SPECIAL PAPERS are surveys of research on particular topics and should be suitable for use in undergraduate courses. They may be concerned with international trade as well as international finance. They should also be of medium length.

Manuscripts should be submitted in triplicate, typed single sided and double spaced throughout on 8½ by 11 white bond paper. Publication can be expedited if manuscripts are computer keyboarded in WordPerfect or a compatible program. Additional instructions and a style guide are available from the Section.

How to Obtain Publications

The Section's publications are distributed free of charge to college, university, and public libraries and to nongovernmental, nonprofit research institutions. Eligible institutions may ask to be placed on the Section's permanent mailing list.

Individuals and institutions not qualifying for free distribution may receive all publications for the calendar year for a subscription fee of \$40.00. Late subscribers will receive all back issues for the year during which they subscribe.

Publications may be ordered individually, with payment made in advance. ESSAYS and REPRINTS cost \$9.00 each; STUDIES and SPECIAL PAPERS cost \$12.50. An additional \$1.50 should be sent for postage and handling within the United States, Canada, and Mexico; \$1.75 should be added for surface delivery outside the region.

All payments must be made in U.S. dollars. Subscription fees and charges for single issues will be waived for organizations and individuals in countries where foreign-exchange regulations prohibit dollar payments.

Information about the Section and its publishing program is available at the Section's website at www.princeton.edu/~ifs. A subscription and order form is printed at the end of this volume. Correspondence should be addressed to:

International Finance Section
Department of Economics, Fisher Hall
Princeton University
Princeton, New Jersey 08544-1021
Tel: 609-258-4048 • Fax: 609-258-6419

E-mail: ifs@princeton.edu

List of Recent Publications

A complete list of publications is available at the International Finance Section website at www.princeton.edu/~ifs.

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 172. Jack M. Guttentag and Richard M. Herring, Accounting for Losses On Sovereign Debt: Implications for New Lending. (May 1989)
- 173. Benjamin J. Cohen, Developing-Country Debt: A Middle Way. (May 1989)
- 174. Jeffrey D. Sachs, New Approaches to the Latin American Debt Crisis. (July 1989)
- 175. C. David Finch, The IMF: The Record and the Prospect. (September 1989)
- 176. Graham Bird, Loan-Loss Provisions and Third-World Debt. (November 1989)
- 177. Ronald Findlay, The "Triangular Trade" and the Atlantic Economy of the Eighteenth Century: A Simple General-Equilibrium Model. (March 1990)
- 178. Alberto Giovannini, *The Transition to European Monetary Union*. (November 1990)
- 179. Michael L. Mussa, Exchange Rates in Theory and in Reality. (December 1990)
- 180. Warren L. Coats, Jr., Reinhard W. Furstenberg, and Peter Isard, *The SDR System and the Issue of Resource Transfers*. (December 1990)
- George S. Tavlas, On the International Use of Currencies: The Case of the Deutsche Mark. (March 1991)
- 182. Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, ed., with Michael Emerson, Kumiharu Shigehara, and Richard Portes, *Europe After 1992: Three Essays*. (May 1991)
- Michael Bruno, High Inflation and the Nominal Anchors of an Open Economy. (June 1991)
- 184. Jacques J. Polak, The Changing Nature of IMF Conditionality. (September 1991)
- 185. Ethan B. Kapstein, Supervising International Banks: Origins and Implications of the Basle Accord. (December 1991)
- 186. Alessandro Giustiniani, Francesco Papadia, and Daniela Porciani, Growth and Catch-Up in Central and Eastern Europe: Macroeconomic Effects on Western Countries. (April 1992)
- 187. Michele Fratianni, Jürgen von Hagen, and Christopher Waller, *The Maastricht Way to EMU*. (June 1992)
- 188. Pierre-Richard Agénor, Parallel Currency Markets in Developing Countries: Theory, Evidence, and Policy Implications. (November 1992)
- 189. Beatriz Armendariz de Aghion and John Williamson, *The G-7's Joint-and-Several Blunder*. (April 1993)
- Paul Krugman, What Do We Need to Know About the International Monetary System? (July 1993)
- Peter M. Garber and Michael G. Spencer, The Dissolution of the Austro-Hungarian Empire: Lessons for Currency Reform. (February 1994)
- 192. Raymond F. Mikesell, The Bretton Woods Debates: A Memoir. (March 1994)
- Graham Bird, Economic Assistance to Low-Income Countries: Should the Link be Resurrected? (July 1994)
- 194. Lorenzo Bini-Smaghi, Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, and Francesco Papadia, The Transition to EMU in the Maastricht Treaty. (November 1994)

- 195. Ariel Buira, Reflections on the International Monetary System. (January 1995)
- 196. Shinji Takagi, From Recipient to Donor: Japan's Official Aid Flows, 1945 to 1990 and Beyond. (March 1995)
- 197. Patrick Conway, Currency Proliferation: The Monetary Legacy of the Soviet Union. (June 1995)
- 198. Barry Eichengreen, A More Perfect Union? The Logic of Economic Integration. (June 1996)
- 199. Peter B. Kenen, ed., with John Arrowsmith, Paul De Grauwe, Charles A. E. Goodhart, Daniel Gros, Luigi Spaventa, and Niels Thygesen, *Making EMU Happen—Problems and Proposals: A Symposium*. (August 1996)
- 200. Peter B. Kenen, ed., with Lawrence H. Summers, William R. Cline, Barry Eichengreen, Richard Portes, Arminio Fraga, and Morris Goldstein, From Halifax to Lyons: What Has Been Done about Crisis Management? (October 1996)
- 201. Louis W. Pauly, The League of Nations and the Foreshadowing of the International Monetary Fund. (December 1996)
- 202. Harold James, Monetary and Fiscal Unification in Nineteenth-Century Germany: What Can Kohl Learn from Bismarck? (March 1997)
- 203. Andrew Crockett, The Theory and Practice of Financial Stability. (April 1997)
- 204. Benjamin J. Cohen, The Financial Support Fund of the OECD: A Failed Initiative. (June 1997)
- 205. Robert N. McCauley, The Euro and the Dollar. (November 1997)
- 206. Thomas Laubach and Adam S. Posen, Disciplined Discretion: Monetary Targeting in Germany and Switzerland. (December 1997)
- 207. Stanley Fischer, Richard N. Cooper, Rudiger Dornbusch, Peter M. Garber, Carlos Massad, Jacques J. Polak, Dani Rodrik, and Savak S. Tarapore, *Should the IMF Pursue Capital-Account Convertibility*? (May 1998)
- 208. Charles P. Kindleberger, Economic and Financial Crises and Transformations in Sixteenth-Century Europe. (June 1998)
- 209. Maurice Obstfeld, EMU: Ready or Not? (July 1998)
- 210. Wilfred Ethier, The International Commercial System (September 1998)

PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 63. Jacob A. Frenkel and Assaf Razin, Spending, Taxes, and Deficits: International-Intertemporal Approach. (December 1988)
- 64. Jeffrey A. Frankel, Obstacles to International Macroeconomic Policy Coordination. (December 1988)
- 65. Peter Hooper and Catherine L. Mann, *The Emergence and Persistence of the U.S. External Imbalance*, 1980-87. (October 1989)
- 66. Helmut Reisen, Public Debt, External Competitiveness, and Fiscal Discipline in Developing Countries. (November 1989)
- 67. Victor Argy, Warwick McKibbin, and Eric Siegloff, Exchange-Rate Regimes for a Small Economy in a Multi-Country World. (December 1989)
- 68. Mark Gersovitz and Christina H. Paxson, *The Economies of Africa and the Prices of Their Exports*. (October 1990)
- 69. Felipe Larraín and Andrés Velasco, Can Swaps Solve the Debt Crisis? Lessons from the Chilean Experience. (November 1990)

- 70. Kaushik Basu, The International Debt Problem, Credit Rationing and Loan Pushing: Theory and Experience. (October 1991)
- 71. Daniel Gros and Alfred Steinherr, Economic Reform in the Soviet Union: Pas de Deux between Disintegration and Macroeconomic Destabilization. (November 1991)
- 72. George M. von Furstenberg and Joseph P. Daniels, Economic Summit Declarations, 1975-1989: Examining the Written Record of International Cooperation. (February 1992)
- 73. Ishac Diwan and Dani Rodrik, External Debt, Adjustment, and Burden Sharing: A Unified Framework. (November 1992)
- 74. Barry Eichengreen, Should the Maastricht Treaty Be Saved? (December 1992)
- 75. Adam Klug, The German Buybacks, 1932-1939: A Cure for Overhang? (November 1993)
- 76. Tamim Bayoumi and Barry Eichengreen, One Money or Many? Analyzing the Prospects for Monetary Unification in Various Parts of the World. (September 1994)
- 77. Edward E. Leamer, The Heckscher-Ohlin Model in Theory and Practice. (February 1995)
- 78. Thorvaldur Gylfason, The Macroeconomics of European Agriculture. (May 1995)
- 79. Angus S. Deaton and Ronald I. Miller, International Commodity Prices, Macroeconomic Performance, and Politics in Sub-Saharan Africa. (December 1995)
- 80. Chander Kant, Foreign Direct Investment and Capital Flight. (April 1996)
- 81. Gian Maria Milesi-Ferretti and Assaf Razin, Current-Account Sustainability. (October 1996)
- 82. Pierre-Richard Agénor, Capital-Market Imperfections and the Macroeconomic Dynamics of Small Indebted Economies. (June 1997)
- 83. Michael Bowe and James W. Dean, *Has the Market Solved the Sovereign-Debt Crisis?* (August 1997)
- 84. Willem H. Buiter, Giancarlo M. Corsetti, and Paolo A. Pesenti, *Interpreting the ERM Crisis: Country-Specific and Systemic Issues* (March 1998)

SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS

- 16. Elhanan Helpman, Monopolistic Competition in Trade Theory. (June 1990)
- 17. Richard Pomfret, International Trade Policy with Imperfect Competition. (August 1992)
- Hali J. Edison, The Effectiveness of Central-Bank Intervention: A Survey of the Literature After 1982. (July 1993)
- Sylvester W.C. Eijffinger and Jakob De Haan, The Political Economy of Central-Bank Independence. (May 1996)

REPRINTS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 28. Peter B. Kenen, Ways to Reform Exchange-Rate Arrangements; reprinted from Bretton Woods: Looking to the Future, 1994. (November 1994)
- 29. Peter B. Kenen, *Sorting Out Some EMU Issues*; reprinted from Jean Monnet Chair Paper 38, Robert Schuman Centre, European University Institute, 1996. (December 1996)

The work of the International Finance Section is supported in part by the income of the Walker Foundation, established in memory of James Theodore Walker, Class of 1927. The offices of the Section, in Fisher Hall, were provided by a generous grant from Merrill Lynch & Company.